**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

RECEIVED

May 16 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Robert J. Bonds, Circuit Court Judge**

**Appellate Case No. 2024-000078
Lower Case № 2020-CP-07-01099**

**Aaron Scott Young, Sr. #288580,..... Petitioner,
vs.**

State of South Carolina Respondent

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

**C. RAUCH WISE
Attorney at Law
305 Main Street
Greenwood, SC 29646
864-229-5010
rauchwise@gmail.com
S.C. Bar No. 6188**

Statement of Issues on Appeal

Question I: Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to hold that the application of *State v. Young*, 429 S.C. 155, 818 S.E.2d 516 (2020) to this case on appeal violated the ex post facto provisions of Article I, § 4 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina and Article I, § 10, cl. 1 of the Constitution of the United States of America when the South Carolina Supreme Court held in the Young case that they were extending the law of mutual combat to apply to an innocent third party?

Question II: Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to a hearsay statement of Tyrone Robinson that he had been shot at by Aaron Young, Jr. as the statement did not qualify as an excited utterance?

Question III: Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to hold trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to object to the 911 call in which hearsay statements of other witnesses were given on the tape as the alleged crime was being reported?

Question IV: Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in holding that trial counsel was not ineffective for the failure to object to the general intent charge as to attempted murder when trial counsel admitted he researched the issue and did not object to the implied malice alleged in the indictment?

Statement of the Case

Procedural History

On October 30, 2014, the grand jury for Beaufort County indicted Aaron Young, Sr. for murder and attempted murder in indictment Nos 2020-GS-07-02173 and 2014-GS-07-01941. He was tried before Judge Thomas W. Cooper and a jury on August 10-12, 2015. The jury convicted Mr. Young of murder and attempted murder. Judge Cooper sentenced him to 30 years for the murder and 20 years for attempted murder.

Mr. Young appealed his convictions. On June 26, 2019, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Young's conviction for murder. After a timely petition for rehearing the South Carolina Supreme Court on March 12, 2020 denied his Petition for Writ of Certiorari.

On May 14, 2020, Mr. Young filed his initial application for Post Conviction Relief. An Amended Application for Post Conviction Relief was filed on March 16, 2023. A hearing was held in this matter on March 16, 2023, before Judge Robert J. Bonds. Judge Bonds denied the applicant's request for relief and denied a Rule 59 Motion. The Notice of Appeal was filed on January 18, 2024.

Factual History

On the afternoon of September 1, 2012, Tyrone Robinson came to the residence of Aaron Young, Sr., pointed a pistol at Mr. Young and then started shooting at him. App. at 724, 1 18 to 726, 1 18; App. 582, 1 1 to 583, 1 8. After the shooting, Mr. Young, with his son, left the residence of Mr. Young to obtain a pistol to go after Mr. Robinson. The testimony of Jontu Singleton established that while Mr. Young and his son pursued Mr. Robinson, they never found him. 587, 1 11 to 588, 1 12. Mr. Singleton stated that the three of them then went to Allen Road,

did not find Mr. Robinson and returned back to Mr. Young's house. App. at 588, l 22 to 589, l 8. At no time while Mr. Singleton was with them was the firearm retrieved by Mr. Young ever operable. App. 589, l 14-17. Neither Mr. Young nor his son ever fired at Mr. Robinson. App. at App. at 743, ll 15-21. Mr. Young admitted looking for Mr. Robinson down Oak View Road in Hilton Head. App. at 727, ll 18-24. After going down Oak View Road, Mr. Young and his son returned to Mr. Young's residence, App. at 727, l 25 to 728, l 6. From his home he then went to Allen Road. On Allen Road they saw Mr. Robinson's car parked in a yard. They did not see Mr. Robinson. When they saw the car, Mr. Young's son shot up the automobile. They then left to go back home. App. at 728, l 19 to 729, l 2. At the scene where Mr. Robinson's car was shot up, was the only place where shell casings were found. App. at 618, ll 2-18. The record contains no evidence of any shooting on another road.

After they left Allen Road, they heard three gun shots. App. at 729, ll 3-20. One of the last three gun shots, killed the minor child. The testimony established that Mr. Young's son was firing a 9 mm. The shot that killed the minor child was a .38. App. at 618 l 15 to 619, l 2; App. at 656, ll 18-20. The evidence established that the firearm used by the Youngs did not kill the minor child.

Standard of Review

As to Question I, the standard of review is de novo as the issue is one of law and does not involve factual issues. As to Questions II, III and IV, the standard of review is whether there are any facts at the post conviction relief hearing to support the findings of the Post Conviction Relief Judge. “Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. We review questions of law de novo with no deference to trial courts.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180-181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839 (2018)(internal citations omitted)

Argument

Question I

Did the Post Conviction Relief judge err in failing to hold that the application of *State v. Young*, 429 S.C. 155, 818 S.E.2d 516 (2020) to this case on appeal violated the ex post facto provisions of Article I, § 4 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina and Article I, § 10, cl. 1 of the Constitution of the United States of America when the South Carolina Supreme Court held in the *Young* case that they were extending the law of mutual combat to apply to an innocent third party?

Prior to the decision of this Court in *State v. Young*, 429 S.C. 155, 818 S.E.2d 516 (2020), no Court in South Carolina had ever applied the mutual combat situation to the death of a third party not involved in the mutual combat. This Court had in 1918 applied the mutual combat situation to a person who had not stabbed anyone but participated in the mutual combat with two individuals who did in fact stab someone. The defendant in that case was aiding and abetting the two people who had actually stabbed the deceased. *State v. Brown*, 108 S.C. 490, 195 S.E. 61

(1918). In the case, Davis Freize was stabbed by the defendants Brown and Humphries. The dispute arose over a strike at Judson Mill in Greenville, SC. Apparently a knife fight broke out between the strikers and the non-strikers. The defendants Brown, Huggins, and Humphries were non-strikers. David Freize, who was a striker, was killed in the fight. Brown, Huggins and Humphries were convicted of manslaughter, which would have been in keeping with the doctrine of mutual combat applicable at the time of the fight.

As all the defendants that appealed the case were on the same side, the case is more properly analyzed as being part of the aiding and abetting doctrine. All three entered into mutual combat even though the deceased was only killed by Brown and Humphries. Under the charge, the jury believed that the three were acting in mutual combat and the three were convicted of manslaughter. The case did not involve the death of a person not engaging in mutual combat or aiding and abetting a mutual combat. In the case, the doctrine of mutual combat was used in its traditional role to reduce murder to manslaughter. The state did not use the doctrine as an offensive weapon to prove murder.

When this Court decided *Young*, this Court, for the first time, extended the doctrine to include an innocent third party. In addition to extending the doctrine of mutual combat, this Court used the doctrine, not in its traditional role of reducing murder to manslaughter, but to elevate the crime to murder. This Court said, "Today, we extend our jurisprudence and hold that each participant who willingly engages in mutual combat may be held accountable for the death or injury of an innocent bystander resulting from that confrontation." *Id.* at 166, 818 S.E.2d at 522. In *Young*, this Court not only extended the doctrine, but used the doctrine to sustain a murder conviction. In discussing the impact of mutual combat, this Court has historically stated,

“Even in cases of mutual combat, if one begins the fight with a mortal weapon, it is murder; for in all such cases the combat must have been begun on equal terms to reduce the offence to manslaughter.” *State v. Hammond*, 36 S.C.L. 91, 102 (S.C. App. L. 1850). This Court has also held, “In cases of mutual combat, to mitigate a homicide to manslaughter, it is necessary that the occasion should be unpremeditated, and that at the commencement of the contest, the parties should be upon equal terms.” *State v. McCants*, 28 S.C.L. 384, 385-386 (1843).

The use of mutual combat to sustain a murder conviction is an application of the doctrine of mutual combat that had never been applied in South Carolina. Simply put, this Court took the doctrine of mutual combat to places it had never before been applied. This extension of the doctrine of mutual combat violated the *ex post facto* provisions of Article I, § 4 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina and Article I, § 10, cl. 1 of the Constitution of the United States of America. The indictment in this case shows how the new meaning of “mutual combat” was used to secure the conviction of Mr. Young. The indictment provides, “Aaron Scott Young, Sr. did wilfully, unlawfully and with malice aforethought engage in mutual combat with Tyrone Robinson and did thereby cause the victim [] to be shot and killed” App. at 886. Prior to this case, no reported case in South Carolina had ever permitted the state to use mutual combat as a basis to establish malice. The irony is that mutual combat is normally used by the defense to eliminate malice.

This principle of extending the case law to be in violation of the *ex post facto* provision of the state and federal constitutions was recognized in *State v. Horne*, 282 S.C. 444, 319 S.E.2d 703 (1984). In *Horne*, the defendant was convicted of murder of the killing of a viable fetus. Prior to *Horne*, no court had ever held that the murder statute applied to a viable fetus. The court

noted that it had previously held a defendant liable in a civil action for the wrongful death of a viable fetus. The court then stated, “It would be grossly inconsistent for us to construe a viable fetus as a ‘person’ for purposes of imposing civil liability while refusing to give it a similar classification in the criminal context.” *Id.* at 447, 319 S.E.2d at 704. In reversing the conviction the court said, “However, at the time of the stabbing, no South Carolina decision had held that killing of a viable human being *in utero* could constitute a criminal homicide. The criminal law whether declared by the courts or enacted by the legislature cannot be applied retroactively.” *Id.* In this case, at the time of the shooting, no South Carolina decision had held that killing of an innocent third party would apply to all participants in a mutual combat. Thus, the application of the extension of the law to Aaron Young, Sr. violates the *ex post facto* provisions of both state and federal constitutions.

As the *Young* decision violates the *ex post facto* provisions of the state and federal constitutions, this issue can be brought in a post conviction relief action under S.C. Code § 17-27-20. This section permits an action to be brought if the “conviction or the sentence was in violation of the Constitution of the United States or the Constitution or laws of this State.” Mr. Young has alleged a violation of the state and federal constitutions. To not provide him a remedy would violate the Constitution of the State of South Carolina which provides, “every person shall have speedy remedy therein for wrongs sustained.” Art. I, § 9 Constitution of the State of South Carolina. Mr. Young is entitled to a remedy for the wrong sustained.

This Court in *Young* relied upon cases from other states to support its position. This Court cannot rely upon the interpretation of other states to avoid the application of the *ex post facto* provisions of our constitutions. As the United States Supreme Court has said, “It would be

a rare situation in which the meaning of a statute of another State sufficed to afford a person 'fair warning' that his own State's statute meant something quite different from what its words said." *Bouie v. City of Columbia*, 378 U.S. 347, 359–60 (1964). The prohibition of the use of out of state cases as to statutes would also apply to the interpretation of the common law by this Court.

This Court extended the application of the mutual combat doctrine to include an innocent third person and permitted the state to use the doctrine not to reduce murder to manslaughter, but to sustain a murder conviction. As such, this Court has given the doctrine a new meaning in violation of the *ex post facto* provisions of Article I, § 4 of the Constitution of the State of South Carolina and Article I, § 10, cl. 1 of the Constitution of the United States of America. Thus, this Court should grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and reverse the murder conviction of Aaron Young, Sr.

Question II

Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to find trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to a hearsay statement of Tyrone Robinson that he had been shot at by Aaron Young, Jr. as the statement did not qualify as an excited utterance?

At the trial, Charlese Mitchell testified she had heard about ten shots fired in rapid succession. App. at 524, ll 4-6. After she walked outside, she noticed a truck driven by Aaron Young, Sr., her cousin, drive by. App. at 524, l 11 to 525, l 5. After the truck passed her house another cousin of hers, Tyrone Robinson stopped by her house. App. at 529, ll 6-21. She described Mr. Robinson as "He is hyper, like he was on cloud nine. He was really amped up - -" App. at 530, ll 16-17. When she started to say what Tyrone Robinson told her, trial counsel made a timely hearsay objection. When the trial judge ruled the statement qualified as an excited

utterance, trial counsel made no further objection. App. at 530, 1 23 to 531, 1 8. Trial counsel made no argument that the comment did not qualify as an excited utterance. An objection should have been raised.

While Mr. Robinson was described as “amped up,” his first statement was the product of cool reflection. Ms. Mitchell stated he first asked to see his cousin, Patrick Young. App. at 531, ll 12-15. Only after making an inquiry about his cousin does Ms. Mitchell state, “He then applied [sic] to me that those MF was out there shooting at him.” App. at 531, ll 15-16. He never identified who was shooting at him.

Trial counsel erred in failing to object to this comment which was admitted as an excited utterance. This Court has said, “A court must consider the totality of the circumstances when determining whether a statement falls within the excited utterance exception, and that determination is left to the sound discretion of the trial court.” *State v. Ladner*, 373 S.C. 103, 116, 644 S.E.2d 684, 691 (2007). Had a proper objection been raised, the statement would not have been admitted. In considering the totality of circumstances, the trial court would have been required to consider that Mr. Robinson had previously shot at Mr. Young at Mr. Young’s residence. He was not a reliable source for making any accusation against Mr. Young and his son. Secondly, the event was over. The statement was not made while the stress of the event was happening.

In determining whether an alleged excited utterance should be admitted, this Court has said, “In determining whether a statement falls within the excited utterance exception, a court must consider the totality of the circumstances.” *State v. McHoney*, 344 S.C. 85, 94, 544 S.E.2d 30, 34 (2001).

In determining the totality of the circumstances, the Kentucky Supreme Court has listed eight factors for the court to consider. They stated the eight factors as:

(I) lapse of time between the main act and the declaration, (ii) the opportunity or likelihood of fabrication, (iii) the inducement to fabrication, (iv) the actual excitement of the declarant, (v) the place of the declaration, (vi) the presence there of visible results of the act or occurrence to which the utterance relates, (vii) whether the utterance was made in response to a question, and (viii) whether the declaration was against interest or self-serving.

Jarvis v. Commonwealth 960 S.W.2d 466, 470 (Ky. 1998)

In this case, the alleged excited utterance would not be admissible considering these eight factors. Both the opportunity and the likelihood of fabrication are great. Mr. Robinson had previously shot at Mr. Young. There was obvious animosity between the two men. Because of Mr. Robinson's actions earlier that day, he had an inducement to fabricate - he had shot at Mr. Young. There were no visible results to which the excited utterance related. While the utterance was not made in response to a question, it was not an immediate utterance upon seeing the witness. He asked about a third person first. To minimize his involvement in the previous shooting, he obviously would have an interest in making a self-serving declaration. Finally, one need look no further than Rule 802(2) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence which requires that the person be under the stress of the excitement. In this case, the alleged excitement could be from his being involved in shooting at Mr. Young. The shooting at Mr. Young is reason to be "amped." Whether a person is under the excitement of the alleged incident or a recent previous event is a question for the trial judge to determine. In this case, no trial judge would determine as a matter of law that Mr. Robinson was under the influence of being shot at, if he was in fact being shot at. For these reasons, trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the statement attributed to Tyrone Robinson.

Question III

Did the Post Conviction Relief Judge err in failing to hold trial counsel was ineffective when he failed to object to the 911 call in which hearsay statements of other witnesses were given on the tape as the alleged crime was being reported?

A 911 call is not admissible simply because it is a 911 call. A 911 call can be, and often is, inadmissible as a violation of the Sixth Amendment under *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). As the United States Supreme Court later said:

Statements are nontestimonial when made in the course of police interrogation under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency. They are testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no such ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution.” *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 822 (2006)

The four 911 calls were introduced at the trial on a single disk. App. at 514, 1 18 to 515, 20. No objection was made to the introduction of the calls. An objection should have been made to some of the calls. Trial Counsel admitted he did not conduct any research as to the 911 call and whether it violated the *Crawford* decision. App. at 1141 ll 6-22. He further admitted the 911 call was prejudicial to Mr. Young, as, “[T]hat tends to show that it was a running gun battle which was the state’s theory all along.” App. at 1142, ll 7-9. The 911 call violated *Crawford* and should have been excluded.

This 911 call begins with the statement “We have a lady on the line who has some information about where the shots were fired just now.” 911 call. The call was between a caller and dispatch with the caller simply repeating what was allegedly told to her. The caller, repeating what was allegedly told to her said, “and the two were shooting at each other.” 911 call. Later in

the call, another woman gets on the line. The assumption is this woman is the one who first relayed the facts to the called. The dispatcher did not ask this woman to repeat what was previously said. The woman was not a victim of any crime. At the time of the call, the woman is simply reporting a crime that she had observed. Nothing in the call suggests the crime was on going. Under these circumstances the call was no different from a person walking in off the street to report what they observed concerning a crime. Thus, the call is testimonial in nature and an objection should have been made.

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