RECEIVED

Sep 16 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari
to Beaufort County
Thomas W. Cooper, Trial Judge
Robert J. Bonds, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000078

AARON SCOTT YOUNG, SR.,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE DIXON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

necessary to establish guilt.” Hopt, 110 U.S. at 590. Thus, the PCR court properly found Petitioner’s murder conviction did not violate the *ex post facto* clause.

II. Probative evidence supports the PCR court’s finding that Petitioner did not prove counsel was ineffective in his objection to Charlese Mitchell’s hearsay testimony when the trial court acted within its discretion in finding the statement fit the excited utterance exception, and Petitioner’s argument (raised for this first time in this Petition) that Robinson was somehow amped up by an earlier incident where he shot at the Youngs rather than the more recent incident of the Youngs shooting at him is unpreserved and incredulous.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to Charlese Mitchell’s hearsay testimony about a statement made by co-defendant Tyrone Robinson. Specifically, although Petitioner acknowledges counsel *did* object to this statement based on hearsay, he avers counsel should have further argued the statement did not qualify as an excited utterance. However, Petitioner raises this specific argument for the first time, making it not preserved. Further, based on the actual statement made by Robinson—that those “MFs were shooting at him”—and additional testimony that Robinson was “amped up,” the PCR court properly concluded counsel was not ineffective in this regard for not further arguing against this testimony once the trial court concluded it fit the excited utterance exception to hearsay.

An applicant alleging ineffective assistance of counsel must prove “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 441, 334 S.E.2d at 813. “The test for effective assistance of counsel is whether the representation was within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases.” Watson v. State, 287 S.C. 356, 357, 338 S.E.2d 636, 637 (1985). Courts presume counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.

Butler, 286 S.C. at 441, 334 S.E.2d at 813. An applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a PCR applicant must prove (1) counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and (2) the applicant sustained prejudice as a result of counsel's deficient performance. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687–88; Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117–18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

a. Petitioner is raising this specific argument for the first time, making it not preserved.

At trial, Charlese Mitchell testified Robinson went to her house on the day of the shooting “really amped up.” (App.518). Mitchell stated, “When he came to my house, he asked me if my cousin—.” Trial counsel objected, and the State argued the testimony fit the excited utterance exception to hearsay. (App. 518-19). The Court agreed and overruled the objection. (App. 519). Thereafter, Mitchell testified Robinson told her “those MFs was out there shooting at him.” (App. 519). Likewise, Delaney testified Robinson—who was “pretty excited”—asked Delaney if he saw a gray truck and said “That mother was shooting at me, so I shot at them.” (App. 542-43).

At the PCR hearing, when asked whether he believed Mitchell's testimony about Robinson's statement hurt his case, Petitioner replied, “Well, it . . . was like the splitting the baby in that situation, because she also testified later on in trial . . . to us leaving ten minutes prior to the final shot.” (App. 1180). Trial counsel testified he made a hearsay objection when Mitchell testified about Robinson's statement, but it was overruled. When asked if he made any further objection, counsel explained it was his practice to not continue arguing after a judge has ruled. (App. 1143-45).

In its ruling, the PCR court found Petitioner did not prove counsel was ineffective for not further objecting to Mitchell's testimony because counsel *did* object, but the court overruled that

objection because it found Robinson's statement fit the excited utterance exception. In his Petition to this Court, Petitioner argues counsel was deficient for not arguing the excited utterance exception did not apply because Robinson had a chance to cool. In support, Petitioner argues—*for the first time*—that Robinson must have been amped up about the fact that he (Robinson) shot at the Youngs *earlier* that day while at the Youngs house. However, Petitioner did not advance this argument at the PCR hearing. In fact, counsel for Petitioner questioned trial counsel specifically about whether anything in the record showed “when this shooting *at him* [Robinson] allegedly occurred.” (App. 1147, emphasis added). During this line of questioning, Petitioner did *not* question counsel about the earlier incident at the Youngs house where Petitioner shot at the Youngs. Petitioner likewise did not clearly raise this argument in his Motion to Reconsider.⁴ Petitioner's specific argument that the statement did not fit the excited utterance exception to hearsay because Robinson had a chance to cool from the incident at the Youngs house is thus unpreserved.

b. Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving counsel was ineffective in this regard.

Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving counsel was ineffective in this regard. In its order, the Court found,

⁴ In his Rule 59 Motion to Alter or Amend Judgement, Petitioner argued:

The Court erred in finding that the hearsay statement of the co defendant was admissible as an excited utterance. In making this finding, the Court failed to consider that the record fails to consider the time since the co-defendant had seen what he alleges in his statement. In addition, this Court failed to consider that the co defendant had the reason to distort the truth as to what allegedly happened on the road as he had been the primary aggressor at the residence of Mr. Young when the co defendant fired his weapon at the Youngs.

(App. 1243).

Likewise, this Court finds Petitioner did not prove counsel was ineffective for not further objecting to Mitchell and Delaney's testimony⁵ about Robinson's statements. Notably, counsel *did* object during Mitchell's testimony, but the court overruled that objection based on testimony that Robinson's statement fit the excited utterance exception.

This finding is supported by the trial transcript. Critically, counsel *did* object to Mitchell's hearsay testimony, but the judge overruled that objection. Petitioner did not set forth at the PCR hearing any additional argument related to hearsay⁶ that counsel should have raised to this testimony and thus did not meet his burden of proving deficiency or prejudice.

In his attempt to argue that Robinson's statement did not meet the excited utterance exception because Robinson had a chance for cool reflection, Petitioner—for the first time—cites to an earlier incident where Robinson shot at the Youngs while at the Youngs' house. In doing so, Petitioner ignores the more recent event that was directly referenced by Robinson in his statement—that the Youngs were shooting at him. It is incredulous to speculate that Robinson was “amped up” from this *prior* event but not the more recent event when his very statement to Mitchell referenced the more recent event of “those MF was out there shooting at him.” Not only is Petitioner advancing this argument for the first time in this Petition, the argument that Robinson was somehow “amped up” about previously shooting at the Youngs rather than the Youngs more recently shooting at him is simply incredulous. It is not reasonably likely, had this argument been raised to the trial court, that the trial court would have agreed the *prior* event was the source of stress rather than the more recent event. Thus, the PCR court properly found Petitioner did not

⁵ Although the PCR court also ruled Petitioner did not prove counsel was ineffective for not objecting to Delaney's hearsay testimony, Petitioner did not address this portion of the ruling in his argument, making this ruling law of the case.

⁶ At the PCR hearing, Petitioner additionally argued the hearsay testimony violated the Confrontation Clause. However, Petitioner does not raise any argument related to the Confrontation Clause in his Petition to this Court, making it law of the case.

meet his burden of proof in this regard.

III. The PCR court properly found Petitioner did not prove counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the 911 calls when the calls were nontestimonial and did not violate the Confrontation Clause or contain inadmissible hearsay.

Petitioner contends the 911 calls⁷ violated the Confrontation Clause and contained inadmissible hearsay, and counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the calls. However, the PCR court properly found the 911 calls were nontestimonial and thus did not violate the Confrontation Clause. Further, the PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to prove the calls should have been excluded based on hearsay.

The Confrontation Clause bars testimonial statements of a non-testifying witness unless the witness is unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity for cross-examination. Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). “Statements are nontestimonial when made in the course of police interrogation under circumstances objectively indicating that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to enable police assistance to meet an ongoing emergency. They are testimonial when the circumstances objectively indicate that there is no such ongoing emergency, and that the primary purpose of the interrogation is to establish or prove past events potentially relevant to later criminal prosecution.” Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 822 (2006). Thus, the Supreme Court of South Carolina has concluded that a victim’s statements in a 911 call were nontestimonial when they “were made to obtain police assistance, and the questions during the call were to elicit more information to enable police to assist her.” State v. Thompson, 420 S.C. 386, 401-02, 803 S.E.2d 44, 52 (Ct. App. 2017).

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner averred the outcome would have been different if the court had excluded hearsay statements from the 911 calls. Trial counsel testified he listened to the 911

⁷ The content of the 911 calls is recounted on pages 3-4 of this Return.

calls prior to trial and recalled discussing whether they created a Confrontation Clause issue. He testified he was concerned about statements that two cars were shooting at each other because that supported the State's theory that this was a running gun battle. However, trial counsel testified no one identified Petitioner as a shooter in the 911 calls, and he was less concerned about information regarding Robinson. Trial counsel averred the calls would come in under a business records exception, and he was not aware of an objection he could have made. He testified that in his experience 911 calls are often entered into evidence.

The PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the 911 calls based on a Confrontation Clause issue because the statements in the calls were non-testimonial and did not violate the Confrontation Clause. Here, the 911 callers reported hearing multiple sets of gunshots in a broad area, and police were gathering information to address an ongoing emergency. This is further evidenced by the dispatcher telling callers they were dispatching law enforcement to the area. Thus, these calls were nontestimonial and did not violate the confrontation clause. See also Thompson, 420 S.C. at 401-02, 803 S.E.2d at 52 (finding 911 call nontestimonial when victim's "statements on the 911 call were made to obtain police assistance, and the questions during the call were to elicit more information to enable police to assist her"). Based on the foregoing, counsel's assessment⁸ that there was not a viable

⁸ Petitioner's argument that counsel testified he did not research this issue is based on testimony that is taken out of context. Although counsel testified he did not specifically research this issue, he recalled discussing whether the 911 calls violated the Confrontation Clause. He further explained he was familiar with "the line of cases that distinguish between 911 calls asking for help and 911 calls reporting a crime"—showing this was an issue he was, in fact, familiar with. Ultimately, because the 911 calls were nontestimonial, counsel's decision to not extensively research this issue was reasonable within prevailing professional norms and not deficient. Further, trial counsel explained he was not too concerned about the 911 calls because "there was no incriminating information given to 911. Nobody ever said Mr. Young, Sr. shot somebody. And so, you know, I was less concerned about information about Tyrone Robinson" (App. 1161). Thus, counsel's decision to not further research this issue was reasonable under prevailing professional norms and not deficient.

basis to object that would have excluded the 911 calls was reasonable under prevailing professional norms and not deficient. Further, Petitioner did not set forth an argument that would have likely excluded the calls based on Crawford and thus did not prove prejudice.

Likewise, the PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the calls based on hearsay. Initially, the PCR court properly found the 911 calls met several exceptions to the rule against hearsay. See Rule 803(1), SCRE (providing “[a] statement describing or explain an event or condition made while the declarant was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter,” is not excluded by the rule against hearsay); Rule 803(2), SCRE (providing “[a] statement relating to a startling event or condition made while the declarant was under the stress of excitement caused by the event or condition” is not excluded by the rule against hearsay); Rule 803(6), SCRE (providing “[a] memorandum, report, record, or data compilation, in any form, of acts, events, conditions, or diagnoses, made at or near the time by, or from information transmitted by a person with knowledge, if kept in the course of a regularly conducted business activity” is not excluded by the rule against hearsay). At the PCR hearing, Petitioner did not set forth any argument counsel should have made that would have excluded the calls based on hearsay. Although Petitioner referenced the 911 dispatcher repeating the words of the excited speaker, the dispatcher’s statements merely described or explained “an event or condition made while the [dispatcher] was perceiving the event or condition, or immediately thereafter.” Thus, those statements met an exception to the rule against hearsay. See Rule 803(1). Based on the foregoing, Petitioner did not prove deficiency or prejudice in this regard.

Finally, Petitioner did not show a reasonable probability the outcome would have been different had the 911 calls been excluded. Although the calls themselves supported the State’s

theory of an ongoing gun battle, none of the callers identified Petitioner or implicated him as one of the shooters. Thus, it is not reasonably likely the calls—in and of themselves—led to Petitioner’s conviction, or that the outcome would be different had the calls been excluded.

IV. The PCR court properly concluded counsel was not ineffective for not objecting to a jury charge that had not been deemed improper at the time of Petitioner’s trial.

Petitioner contends the PCR court erred in not finding trial counsel was ineffective for not objecting to the general intent charge as to attempted murder when counsel admitted he researched the issue and did not object to the implied malice alleged in the indictment. However, the PCR court properly concluded that under the law that existed at the time of trial, the charge was proper and there was no basis to object. To the extent Petitioner’s argument can be construed as an argument that counsel was ineffective for not objecting when the court did not charge attempted murder is a specific intent crime, this argument is raised for the first time in this petition and is not preserved. Further, the charge provided by the court was proper under the law that existed at the time of trial. Thus, counsel was not ineffective.

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